UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
for the Fifth Crcuit

No. 92-4301
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
RANDALL GENE WALSH,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas
(4 91 CR 19)

(Novenber 19, 1992)
Before JOLLY, DUHE, and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM !

Randall Gene Walsh ("Walsh") appeals his conviction and
sentence i nposed after a jury trial in which he was found guilty of
possession of a firearm by a felon. See 18 U . S.C. 8§ 922(9) (1)
(Supp. 1992) Finding no error in either the trial court's conduct
of the proceedings or in the inposition of an enhanced sentence, we
affirm

Backgr ound and Procedural History

! Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



In January 1991, Oficer Mchael Tater of the G ayson County,
Texas Sheriff's Ofice received information alerting him to
possi ble drug activity. Pursuant to this information, Oficer
Tater began observing the residence at 2430 West Bond Street in
Deni son, Texas. See R 3, at 76-77. Tater observed WAl sh com ng
and going fromthis residence in a car that matched t he descri ption
of a vehicle involved in a series of burglaries in the Denison
ar ea. On January 24, 1991 Tater and his supervisor, Oficer
Harrison French, were watching the suspect residence when a call
cane over the radio reporting another burglary. Shortly
thereafter, Wal sh drove past the officers in a vehicle simlar to
t he one observed near the nost recent burglary. See R 3, at 79-80
(testinmony of Mchael Tater); 1d. at 146-47 (testinmony of Harrison
French).

Wal sh pulled into the residence's driveway? and st epped out of
the car; but upon seeing the approaching police car he junped back
into his vehicle and began retreati ng down the narrow road. Wl sh
collided head-on with O ficers Tater and French, and was detai ned
only after O ficer Tater succeeded in pinning his car against a
third vehicle. This present appeal is premsed in |arge part upon
the seizure of a firearm di scovered on the front seat of Wlsh's
vehi cl e.

Wal sh was charged with violating 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g) (1) (Supp.

1992) -- the unlawful possession, by a previously convicted felon,

2 The record refers to this private road as both a |lane and a
driveway. The nonenclature is not dispositive; the road where
VWl sh was arrested is on private property.
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of a firearmthat was shipped in interstate conmmerce. Wlsh also
entered guilty pleas on tw counts of violating 18 U. S. C. 922(a) (6)
(Supp. 1992) -- knowingly nmaking false statenents in the
acquisition of afirearm A jury in the Eastern District of Texas
convi cted Wal sh of the possession of a firearmviolation. A

8§ 922(g) violation triggers a sentence enhancenent provision, see
18 U.S.C. §8 924(e) (1) (Supp. 1992).° Pursuant to this statute the
district court sentenced Walsh to fifteen years inprisonnent.

Di scussi on

Wal sh raises three issues on appeal: first, he contends that
the trial judge erred in not suppressing the firearm s adm ssion
into evidence. Second, Walsh alleges that his sentence was
i nproperly enhanced; and finally, Walsh raises a doubl e jeopardy
chal | enge stemm ng fromthe circunstances surroundi ng his state and
federal prosecutions. W wll| address these contentions in reverse
order.

1. Doubl e Jeopardy d aim

Wal sh argues on appeal that his federal conviction fits into

t he doubl e-j eopardy provision carved out in Bartkus v. Illinois,

359 U. S 121 (1959). It is well settled that dual sovereigns can

bot h prosecute a defendant for one act which viol ates each entity's

3 18 U.S.C. 924(e)(1) states in pertinent part:

In the case of a person who viol ates section 922(g)
of this title and has three previous convictions by any
court referred to in section 922(g)(1) of this title for
a violent felony . . . commtted on occasions different
from one another, such person shall be fined not nore
t han $25, 000 and i nprisoned not | ess than fifteen years,
notw t hst andi ng any ot her provision of |aw
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|laws. See, e.q., Heath v. Al abama, 474 U S. 82, 89 (1985) (fifth

anendnent vi ol ati on does not occur where def endant prosecuted first
in state court and later in federal tribunal on simlar charges);

United States v. More, 958 F.2d 646, 650 (5th Cr. 1992) (sane

reasoni ng). The Suprene Court in Bartkus stated that a doubl e-
j eopardy violation may occur where the initial state prosecutionis
a "sham" or a "tool of the federal authorities.” 359 U S. at 123-

24. (O ose cooperation between federal and state authorities does

not give rise to a sham prosecution. See, e.q9., United States v.

Paul , 853 F.2d 308, 311 (5th Gr. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U S.

1012 (1989) (the nere presence of a governnent agent during state

proceedi ngs does not inplicate double jeopardy); United States v.

Bernhardt, 831 F.2d. 181, 182 (9th Cr. 1987) ("It is clear that
t he Bart kus exception does not bar cooperation between prosecuting
sovereignties.").

Wal sh bases hi s doubl e-jeopardy argunent on the fact that the
Grayson County prosecuting attorney, Robert Jarvis, was appointed
as a Special Assistant United States Attorney after being invol ved
in negotiating Walsh's plea agreenent at the state level.* In
order for Wal sh to succeed on his shamprosecution argunent he nust
show that the state proceedi ngs were nerely a cover for the federal
charges, and that a federal agent actively participated in the

state proceedi ngs. See United States v. Paul, 853 F.2d at 311

4 Wal sh entered guilty pleas to state charges of burglary, assault
on a police officer, wunauthorized use of a notor vehicle and
escape. In return for his plea, the state dropped its possession
of a firearmby a felon charge.



Wal sh does not offer any evidence to support his allegation that
Jarvis' subsequent appointnent influenced his federal or state
prosecution. The Grayson County plea negotiations were conpl eted
before Jarvis Received his appointnent. See R 3, at 126.
Mor eover, WAl sh does not offer any evidence that Jarvis actively
participated in his federal prosecution.

Wal sh did rai se the double jeopardy issue in a pretrial notion
which was denied. R 1, at 27-32. He did not, however, raise the
Bart kus- based sham prosecuti on argunent, despite having know edge
of the predicate facts which he now uses as support for this |ine
of attack (i.e., Jarvis' appointnent, and the shredding of the
Grayson County Attorney's original file on Wilsh's plea
agreenent®). By not raising this argunment bel ow, Wal sh has wai ved
his ability to assert the shamprosecution argunent on appeal. See

Fed. R Cim P. 12(b), (f); United States v. More, 958 F. 2d. 646,

650 (5th Gir. 1992).

2. Sentence Enhancenent.

An 18 U S C. 8§ 922(g) conviction triggers a sentence
enhancenent provi sion. See 18 U S.C 8 924(e)(1) (Supp. 1992);

5> In an effort to shore up his double jeopardy argunent, Wil sh
of fered evidence that the origi nal G ayson County prosecutor's file

was shredded prior to the federal trial. Wl sh contends that the
shredded fil e nmay have contai ned excul patory i nformation, and that
its destruction is illustrative of the close relationship between

the state and federal authorities. See Appellant's Brief at 20.
The enpl oyee responsible for the G ayson County Attorney's
records testified that it is routine to shred the case files when
pl ea agreenents are entered into. R 3, at 122-23. This is done
to free up space for active files. 1d. Wlsh did not offer any

rebuttal evidence that his file was shredded as a result of
collusive efforts between federal and state officials.
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United States v. Garza, 921 F.2d 59, 60 (5th Cr.), cert. denied,

112 S .. 91 (1991). | f a defendant has three prior convictions
for violent felonies, 18 U S. C. 8§ 924(e)(1) mandates a m ni mum
sentence of fifteen years inprisonnent. Wal sh argues that the
governnent failed to offer sufficient evidence of previous
convictions to support his sentence enhancenent.

A presentence investigation report (PSR) was filed with the
court w thout objection from Walsh. The district court properly
relied on its contents in determ ning Wal sh's sentence, including
taking into account the references to Walsh's prior crimnal

activities. See United States v. Fields, 923 F.2d 358, 361 (5th

Cr.), cert. denied, 111 S.C. 2066 (1991); United States v. Rui z,

580 F.2d 177, 177-78 (5th CGr.), cert. denied, 439 U S 1051

(1978). Wal sh has nore than enough prior convictions to support
t he enhancenent of his sentence. The record lists eleven prior
of fenses conmtted by Wal sh. See R 1, at 5-6. Even conceding (as
t he governnent does) that the unl awful possession of a firearm by
a felon counts are not "violent crines" per 18 U.S.C. §8 924(e) (1),

Wal sh  has enough prior burglary convictions to support the

enhanced sentence that the district court inposed. See United

States v. Silva, 957 F. 2d 157, 161-62 (5th G r. 1992) (hol ding that

"three Texas burglary convictions [are] sufficient predicate
convi ctions for enhancenent of his sentence pursuant to 18 U S. C
8§ 924(e).").

3. Suppressi on Mtion.

The trial court denied Wal sh's notion to suppress evi dence of



the firearmafter a hearing held in open court. See R 3, at 28-
44, Because the district court did not enter specific findings in
support of its decision, this matter is freely reviewable on

appeal. See United States v. Kye Soo Lee, 962 F.2d 430, 435 n. 17

(5th Gr. 1992).

Wal sh argues that the firearmwas seized after a warrantl ess
arrest which was not supported by probable cause. CGeneral ly,
arrests must be nmade after a valid warrant has been issued
aut hori zing the sei zure of the individual. However, a warrantl ess
arrest may be effected by |aw enforcenent personnel if they have
probabl e cause to believe that the arrestee has conmtted, or is

commtting, a crine. See, e.q., United States v. Garza, 921 F. 2d

59, 60 (5th Gr. 1991); Trejo v. Perez, 693 F.2d 482, 485-86 (5th

Cir. 1982). Probable cause is defined as "facts and circunstances
‘sufficient to warrant a prudent nman in believing that the
[ suspect] had commtted or was conmtting an offense.'" Gerstein

v. Pugh, 420 U. S. 103, 111 (1975) (quoting Beck v. Chio, 379 U S

89, 91 (1964)).
The record anply supports the district court's inplicit
decision that Oficers Tater and French had probable cause to

arrest Walsh without a warrant.® While Walsh's attenpted flight

6 On appeal, Walsh challenges the reliability of the police
informant who provided information to Oficer Tater. See
Appellant's Brief at 14. Walsh did not raise this issue in the
district court. This court will not consider such a fact-sensitive
matter for the first tinme on appeal unless failure to do so would
result in a manifest injustice. See United States v. Sherbak, 950
F.2d 1095, 1101 (5th GCr. 1992). In light of the "totality of the
circunstances" test we use in ascertaining if sufficient probable
cause to arrest existed, see |Illinois v. Gates, 462 U S. 213, 232-

7



st andi ng al one may not be sufficient to nerit probabl e cause for an

arrest, see United States v. Silva, 957 F.2d 157, 160 (5th Cr.

1992), when it is coupled with the facts that: (1) the officers

had received information connecting the residence with crimna

activity; (2) a car matching the description of the one driven by
Wal sh was observed near a recent burglary; and, perhaps npst
inportantly, (3) after seeing the |lights and hearing the siren of
t he approaching | aw officers' car, Walsh drove into it head first
in an attenpt to elude capture; it was clearly not error for the

trial judge to find that there existed probable cause to arrest

Wal sh.’ See |Illinois v. Gates, 462 U S 213, 233 (1983
("[P]robable cause is a fluid concept -- turning on the assessnent
of probabilities in particular contexts -- not readily, or even

usefully reduced to a neat set of legal rules."); Silva, 957 F. 2d
at 160 (The presence or absence of probable cause "nust be
determined in light of the totality of the circunstances
confronting a police officer. . . .").

Concl usi on

Based on the foregoing reasons, the judgnent and sentence

33 (1983), failure to consider the credibility issue does not rise
to the level of a manifest injustice.

" Wl sh raises the argunent that since his arrest took place on
private property, a warrant is an indispensable necessity.
Appel lant's Brief at 15. This argunent also fails, as the arrest
was made wi th adequate probable cause, and the officers did not
cross the fourth anendnent's firmline drawn at the entrance to the
house. See Kirkpatrick v. Butler, 870 F.2d 276, 281 (5th Cr.
1989), cert. denied, 493 U. S. 1051 (1990). In Kirkpatrick, this
court held that a warrantless arrest nade on the suspect's porch
did not raise fourth anmendnent concerns. 870 F.2d at 281.
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i nposed by the district court is AFFI RVED.



